

Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD)
Human Rights Council and Treaty Mechanisms Division
Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR)
UNOG-OHCHR
8-14 Avenue de la Paix,
1211 Geneve 10,
Switzerland

Email: OHCHR-cerd@un.org

3rd May 2024

Dear Mr. Chair,

NHRI Input to the List of Themes for the Combined twenty-fourth to twenty-sixth periodic reports submitted by the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (UK) under article 9 of the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination

The Scottish Human Rights Commission (the Commission) welcomes the opportunity to provide an initial input to support the development of the List of Themes ahead of the UK's examination at the 113<sup>th</sup> Session in August 2024.

We note and respond to the issues addressed in the <u>UK's State Report</u> and the <u>Concluding observations on the combined twenty-first to twenty-third periodic reports of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.</u>

As the National Human Rights Institution for Scotland, we highlight that the UK's constitutional make up is complex. We warmly welcome the Committee's past sensitivity to the nature and role of devolution. Scotland has primary legal responsibility for the implementation of the Convention in most areas, and in order for the Convention to be properly realised in Scotland, it is essential to evaluate the Scotlish Government and other devolved duty-bearers efforts to eradicate racial discrimination as per the Convention.

Established by an Act of the Scottish Parliament, the Commission's mandate covers all policy and practice within devolved competence. The Equality and Human Rights

Commission is the NHRI for Great Britain and considers human rights in reserved areas. Our roles are distinct; the SHRC has the sole remit in respect of human rights in devolved areas, as noted in the State report (paragraphs 89-93). This is further elaborated through a Memorandum of Understanding between our organisations.

The SHRC however remains disappointed that we have not had our powers revisited since we were established in 2006. This leaves people in Scotland with their rights significantly less protected than counterparts in Northern Ireland and in England and Wales.

The Scottish Government has made bold commitments to increase protection and realisation of human rights. This must be appropriately tested through both international and domestic scrutiny. The evidence supplied by us and NGO's aims to support the Committee – and of course, other interested parties – to do so effectively.

Accordingly, the Commission requests the following:

- Participation in the private briefing session ahead of the state dialogue
- To participate in the examination, with the consent of the state party

These requests and our full detailed submission ahead of the review demonstrate our commitment to supporting the Committee's vital work to realise the full implementation of the Convention.

Please do not hesitate to contact us for further information about the Commission.

Yours sincerely,

Shelley Gray

Commissioner

# Thematic Concerns regarding implementation of the UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (UN CERD) in Scotland

## **Contents**

		c Concerns regarding implementation of the UN Convention (	on
	ie Eilm cotland	ination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (UN CERD) in	3
1.	Ger	neral information	
	1.1.	Constitutional Arrangements	4
	1.2.	Terminology (Article 1)	4
2.	Are	as of concern	5
	2.1.	Legal and Policy Framework	5
	2.1.	Hate Crime and Community Cohesion / Sectarianism	7
	2.2.	Public Affairs and Freedom of Expression	9
	2.3.	Justice and Policing	9
	2.4.	Human Trafficking	10
	2.5.	Socio-economic status	10
	2.6.	Health and Wellbeing	11
	2.7.	Gypsy / Travellers	12
	2.8.	Migrants and refugees	13
	2.9.	Employability, Education and Cultural rights	14
	2.10.	Further marginalised groups – women, children, disabled	
		e and LGBTI+ people from ethnic minority communities	
3.		of Themes	
4	Г	I Martina	40

#### 1. General information

#### 1.1. Constitutional Arrangements

Under the UK's Devolution Settlement, Scotland has primary legal responsibility for compliance with treaties to which the UK is a party in areas devolved under the Scotland Act 2016. This includes justice, education, health and some aspect of social security. Employment, equality law and immigration are examples of matters reserved to the UK.

Census results for Scotland on race and ethnicity are not expected until later in 2024. Data from 2011 remains the most commonly cited national level demographic figures, and these show that:

- 91.8%, of people identified as 'White: Scottish' or 'White: Other British'.
- 4.2% identified as belonging to a white minority ethnic group, such as Polish, Irish, Gypsy/Traveller or 'White: Other'.
- 4% of the population identified as, Asian, African, Caribbean or Black, Mixed, or Other ethnic group.

Increases in the populations identifying as other than 'White: Scottish' or 'White: Other British" are anticipated in the next Census results.

# 1.2. Terminology (Article 1)

The Commission recognises the range of preferred terms and contested descriptors used to discuss racialised and ethnic communities globally and within Scotland. We acknowledge that some terms used throughout this paper will not resonate with or feel appropriate for some readers.

The Scottish Government does not currently have a single approach to writing about race and ethnicity. Increasingly, they have used the term 'racialised' to mean "the process by which groups of people are given racial identities and placed within the hierarchy based on their presumed superiority or inferiority to one another." In the main, we use both the terms 'racialised' and 'people from minority ethnic

communities'a in this report unless using another term to maintain consistency with one used in an original source.

Where we speak specifically to the needs or circumstances of an identified group we aim to be as specific as the original source enables – for example 'black'b; 'Asian', 'Pakistani'.

We recognise that this means that a range of terms are used throughout this document, often with imprecise definitions, reflecting the lack of universal consensus and preferences.

Everyone has the right to define themselves and to use terminology that best aligns with their sense of (community) identity,<sup>3</sup> as per the Committee's analysis in General Recommendation 21<sup>4</sup> and the principle of internal self-determination.

#### 2. Areas of concern

The following thematic issues will be supplemented through further research and analysis for the examination and should not be considered exhaustive.

#### 2.1. Legal and Policy Framework

The Commission welcomes that the UK Government has dropped plans to repeal and replace the Human Rights Act with a British Bill of Rights, but continues to have serious concerns about moves to restrict application of European Human Rights standards domestically, including in migration and asylum cases. Concerns about

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> In using the term 'people from minority ethnic communities' we are generally inclusive of both visible and non-visible (i.e. white) groups. Usually used to cover all ethnic groups except White: British / White: Scottish. It also common to see the term 'BME' or 'Black and Minority Ethnic' / 'people from BME communities' used in Scottish Government and official sources (c.f 'Black, Asian and minority ethnic / BAME' which is more commonly seen in UK Government and UK official sources). However the term is criticised by some individuals and communities for failing to reflect the role of systemic racism and homogenising communities. In 2021 the Commission on Race and Ethnic Disparities recommended that 'BAME' should not be used going forward.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> We note that some sources use 'Black' to mean 'political Blackness', a concept that arose in the UK in the 1970s trade union movement to mean all people who were not considered white and who were likely to experience racism. While still sometimes used in this way, some black people of African and Caribbean descent have increasingly expressed concern that the concept hides or appropriates the black experience and minimises anti-blackness from other people of colour. See discussion by <a href="https://proceedings.org/nlichold/">The Anti-Racist Educator: Political Blackness.</a>

the exclusion of human rights considerations from migration have also been shared by the UN Human Rights Committee,<sup>5</sup> the UN Human Rights Commissioner and the UN Refugee Agency.<sup>6</sup>

The Scottish Government has committed to incorporation of CERD into Scots Law to the maximum extent possible within the devolution settlement. We note that in the State report, the Scottish Government suggests that this will have the "practical effect of ensuring that the rights set out in the Convention are justiciable in the Scottish courts as a matter of Scots law." <sup>c</sup> Despite this laudable intention, there is scant detail on how and to what extent CERD will be meaningfully justiciable, as the Scottish Government intends to apply a procedural duty rather than a compliance duty.<sup>7</sup>

The Scottish Government has set out medium-term visions and goals in its Race Equality Framework 2016-30. This is intended to be realised through a series of action plans, the first being A Fairer Scotland for All: Race Equality Action Plan 2017-2021.8 This was followed by an 'Immediate Priorities Plan' in 2022.9

Following the clear disparities laid bare by the impact of COVID-19<sup>d</sup> on people of different ethnicities and from the Black Lives Matter movement around the globe, the Scottish Government established an Anti-Racism Interim Governance Group (AIGG) to develop National Anti-Racism Infrastructure. This was in direct response to recommendations of the Expert Reference Group on Covid-19 and Ethnicity.<sup>10</sup>

The AIGG aimed to provide a format for a new, multi-year anti-racist approach from 2023.<sup>11</sup> However, as of 1 May 2024, no conclusions have yet been published and no update or replacement Race Equality Action Plan produced.

Measuring the impact of these frameworks or indeed undertaking any analysis of outcomes by ethnic group is undermined by the long noted<sup>12</sup> and pervasive lack of data collection, analysis, disaggregation and publication.<sup>13</sup>

The Evidence Finder and Equality Data Improvement Programme both aim to address some of these data challenges, although stakeholders have encouraged the Scottish Government to be more committal on the use of data to inform policy.<sup>14</sup> As

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> State report paragraph 93

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> See also the work of the Expert Reference Group for COVID-19 and Ethnicity,

part of the AIGG's work, it is considering how to establish a permanent external oversight and governance body, which is to include an Observatory bringing together quantitative and qualitative data on ethnic and racial inequalities.<sup>15</sup>

More generally, the Commission has also raised issues relating to the alignment of international human rights standards to support implementation and monitoring of treaty obligations. The Scottish Government has not progressed its commitments to a Human Rights Tracker.

#### 2.1. Hate Crime and Community Cohesion / Sectarianism

Race-related hate crime is the most commonly recorded type of hate crime (accounting for 3,145 of 5,738 charges in 2022-23).<sup>17</sup> The Hate Crime and Public Order (Scotland) Act<sup>18</sup> was passed by the Scottish Parliament in 2021, following a review which recommended changes to legislation to consolidate and modernise existing law and expand the use of 'stirring up offences'. The Act is in force as of 1 April 2024.<sup>19</sup>

To support implementation, the Scottish Govenrment launched<sup>f</sup> a refreshed Hate Crime Strategy in March 2023.<sup>20</sup> This was followed by a Delivery Plan in November 2023.<sup>21</sup>

Though it is too early to assess the impact of the Act, media and public commentary has been highly critical of the perceived impacts on freedom of expression and the policing of 'non-hate crime incidents.' There is also a considerable degree of misinformation and misunderstanding about offences in the Act.<sup>22</sup> Changes to the law relating to race hate offences are minimal, but the Commission is concerned about the impact of negative media commentary on reporting and public confidence.<sup>9</sup> Reports of additional pressures on the police to respond to increased volume of complaints via the Act, and an apparent lack of operational guidance for the police

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>e</sup> A Commitment restated in the State Report at paragraph 104-105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup> The Commission has served as an Observer to the Strategic Partnership Group since 2022, enabling us to comment on the human rights content of the draft strategy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Commission notes with disappointment the UK's continued support for the interpretative declaration in relation to Article 4, however reflects that the Hate Crime and Public Order Act 2021 complies with the spirit of the provision through maintenance of the stirring up of racial hatred offence while providing protection for Freedom of Expression through reference to the European Convention on Human Rights.

on how to manage this, are also undermining public confidence in the Act and its provisions.

A 2021 public inquiry by the Scottish Parliament Cross Party Group on Islamophobia found that 75% of Muslim people in Scotland report that Islamophobia is a regular or everyday occurance in Scotland and 83% had experienced Islamophobia directly.<sup>23</sup> 78% of Muslim respondents believed Islamophobia in Scotland was getting worse.

UK-wide data on anti-semitic incidents suggest that the proportion that occur in Scotland are relatively small,<sup>24</sup> but doubled in the last year.<sup>h</sup> Reports from Jewish people in Scotland suggest that this increase accelerated following events in Gaza.<sup>25</sup>

The Commission has sought to remind public bodies, including Police Scotland, of their responsibilities to facilitate freedom of expression and protect people from harm and hatred.<sup>26</sup>

Religious sectarianism has a long history in Scotland, though there is no legal definition or single charge associated, making it difficult to determine the scale and impact of the issue.<sup>27</sup> 47% of religiously aggravated hate crime in 2020-21 demonstrated prejudice towards the Catholic community.<sup>28</sup>

Much of the policy attention on sectarianism has been directed at violence at football matches.<sup>29</sup> The Offensive Behaviour at Football and Threatening Communications (Scotland) Act 2012 was repealed in 2018 after research suggested that the law was unfairly targeted and did not adequately protect human rights.<sup>i</sup> Immediately following the repeal, the then-Chair of the Scottish Policing Federation cautioned that some people felt legitimised to engage in violence.<sup>30</sup>

<sup>h</sup> The Community Security Trust recorded 34 incidents in 2022 compared to 68 in 2023.

https://webarchive.nrscotland.gov.uk/3/archive2021.parliament.scot/S5\_JusticeCommittee/Inquiries/OBR227-SHRC.pdf

In 2011, when the Bill was being debated, the SHRC warned that Bill was "drafted too broadly, lacking legal precision as to the scope of the new offences such that it may not be considered to comply with the principle of legal certainty and the requirement of lawfulness under the European Convention on Human Rights (the Convention). See: <a href="shrc-offensive-behaviour-at-football.doc">shrc-offensive-behaviour-at-football.doc</a> (live.com). We repeated these concerns in 2018 during the repeal process:

#### 2.2. Public Affairs and Freedom of Expression

People from minority ethnic communities are under-represented in all avenues of public life, however employee data publication is inconsistent and frequently not adequately disclosed.<sup>31</sup> The Scottish Government has published an analysis of the legal workforce which found that staff from minority ethnic communities in justice organisations varies from less than 0.5% up to 3.4%.<sup>32</sup> The diversity of MSPs is not captured by official data, however in 2021, more MSPs from minority ethnic communities were elected.<sup>33</sup>

Controls on freedom of expression and peaceful assembly in the UK Public Order Act 2023 do not apply in Scotland,<sup>34</sup> however the Commission is concerned about individuals who travel to England and Wales to join protest activity.

## 2.3. Justice and Policing

Annual prison statistics show that in Scotland, between 2022-23, the rate of imprisonment for the 'White' ethnic groups was 3.2 per 1,000, 2.6 per 1,000 for 'Asian' ethnic groups, and 4.5 per 1,000 for 'Mixed or Multiple' ethnic groups. Imprisonment rates for 'African, Caribbean, and Black' and for 'Other' ethnic groups were considerably higher at 8.7 and 8.5 per 1,000.<sup>35</sup>

The Commission's own work on human rights in places of detention has identified a serious shortage of evidence to assess progress on human rights-based recommendations and racial disparities. Our findings will be published in June 2024. Data that would enable a more thorough analysis of the treatment of prisoners from minority ethnic communities is not routinely published by the Scottish Prison Service.

In 2020, the Scottish Government compiled an audit of research relating to 'Race and the justice system' over the preceding decade.<sup>36</sup> This confirms a significant shortage of information about how people from racialised backgrounds experience all aspects of the criminal justice system. It is disappointing that more has not been done in the past few years to identify specific trends.

Scottish Government summaries continue to report that most measurable outcomes in the justice system occur among 'White:British' groups, however given that these groups represent the vast majority of the general population this is entirely unsurprising.<sup>37</sup>

The Commission is particularly concerned that:

- Police 'use of force' appears disproportionately higher against 'African, Caribbean or Black' groups.<sup>38</sup>
- Between 2017-18 and 2021-22, the proportion of stop and searches being carried out on minority ethnic individuals has remained at around 5-10%.<sup>39</sup>
- A third of ethnic minority and foreign national prisoners report experiencing discrimination (including bullying) due to their race.<sup>40</sup>

In 2022, the outgoing Chief Inspector of Police Scotland publicly acknowledged that institutional racism, sexism, misogyny, and discrimination exist within Police Scotland.<sup>41</sup> A public inquiry into the death of Sheku Bayoh, who died after being restrained in police custody, will examine whether race was a factor in his death.<sup>42</sup>

#### 2.4. Human Trafficking

Scotland has its own human trafficking legislation (the Human Trafficking and Exploitation (Scotland) Act 2015<sup>43</sup>), and a national Trafficking and Exploitation Strategy,<sup>44</sup> although specified public authorities in Scotland are obliged to notify the Home Office about all potential victims.<sup>45</sup> 220 Scottish trafficking cases were referred between October and December 2023, 96 of which involved a child aged 17 or under.<sup>46</sup> Figures are given for nationality of each report, which show that of the 220 reports the highest proportion (68) were Vietnamese.

The non-prosecution of trafficking victims is legislated for under Section 8 of the Human Trafficking and Exploitation (Scotland) Act 2015,<sup>47</sup> however victims of trafficking have continued to face criminal charges in Scotland.<sup>48</sup> Meanwhile, conviction rates relating to human trafficking remain low.<sup>49</sup>

Lawyers have warned that obligations on public bodies to support victims under Scottish human trafficking legislation the UNCRC (Scotland) Act create conflict with the Illegal Migration Act.<sup>50</sup>

#### 2.5. Socio-economic status

Poverty is mainly measured at household level in Scotland. Data based on the highest earner<sup>51</sup> shows that between 2018-23, the poverty rate after housing costs was:

• 50% for Asian or Asian British' ethnic groups in Scotland;

Bridgeside House, 99 McDonald Road, Edinburgh, EH7 4NS 0131 297 5750 hello@scottishhumanrights.com

hello@scottishhumanrights.com www.scottishhumanrights.com

- 51% for 'Mixed, Black or Black British and Other' ethnic groups
- And 22% and 18% for "White: Other" and "White: British" respectively.

Poverty levels in general have been rising and high inflation is compounding income inequalities. People from minority ethnic communities experience a three-times-higher rate of in-work poverty than white workers.<sup>52</sup> Workers from minority ethnic communities were around twice as likely as white workers to have insecure contracts and less likely to get the hours they wanted.<sup>53</sup> The minority ethnic unemployment rate is more than double that of the white unemployment rate.

An accurate assessment of interventions to reduce poverty is undermined by a lack of disaggregated data across the UK and Scottish policy systems, including in the social security system.<sup>54</sup> Around 6% of people in receipt of devolved benefits identify as being from a minority ethnic background, slightly above the general population estimate, but not necessarily reflecting higher poverty rates. There is an 8% gap in approval rates between White applicants (81%) and Asian (73%) and African (73%) applicants to Social Security Scotland.<sup>55</sup>

As many as half of children from minority ethnic communities live in poverty.<sup>56</sup> The Scottish Parliament has passed legislation - the Child Poverty (Scotland) Act 2017 – which requires Scottish Ministers to meet statutory child poverty reduction targets.<sup>57</sup> The Scottish Government has outlined its approach through its Child Poverty Delivery Strategy 2022-26.<sup>58</sup> The strategy focusses on six priority family types, including minority ethnic families. The Scottish Government's annual progress assessment however shows that there has been little progress in reduction of absolute poverty for children in minority ethnic families (35% between 2011 and 2014 to 34% between 2019 and 2022) and a rise in the percentage of children from minority ethnic families in relative poverty (33% to 39% over the same data period.)<sup>59</sup>

People from minority ethnic communities in Scotland are overrepresented in the private rented sector, where housing costs are higher<sup>60</sup> and risk of homelessness is more acute for some ethnic groups.<sup>61</sup>

# 2.6. Health and Wellbeing

Health and wellbeing outcomes, including public health indicators, are consistently reported as being poorer among racialised communities in Scotland. Following the emergence of deep demographic in over the pandemic and as a result of steps taken

to protect public health, there has been increased awareness across the wider policy landscape of racialised health inequalities.<sup>62</sup> Examples of these inequalities include:

- Scottish Gypsy/Travellers life expectancy is estimated to be as low as 55 years.<sup>63</sup>
- Deaths among people of Chinese ethnicity and people of Indian ethnicity were almost twice as likely to involve COVID-19 than deaths of people of White Scottish ethnicity<sup>64</sup>
- Difficulties in accessing GPs and other essential medical care due to lack of support available for asylum seekers,<sup>65</sup> including but not only shortages of translators.<sup>66</sup>

The Mental Welfare Commission has found that there are differences in how the Mental Health Act is applied across communities in Scotland and a "constant drip of micro-aggressions... impacted on [participant's] mental health and their sense of belonging in Scotland."<sup>67</sup>

However, data on reported mental wellbeing and other indicators is not disaggregated by ethnicity.<sup>68</sup> While we note the Scottish Government's increased spending on mental health in recent years,<sup>j</sup> The Mental Health Strategy 2017-27<sup>69</sup> was criticised as too general<sup>70</sup> and the Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2023 includes no substantive actions or analysis by race and ethnicity.<sup>71</sup>

# 2.7. Gypsy / Travellers

Research continues to show that Gypsy/Traveller communities are reluctant to engage with public agencies. Data and evidence directly from the communities is subject to significant gaps.<sup>72</sup> The 2011 census suggests that 4,200 people identified themselves as 'White: Gypsy/Traveller'. This is significantly lower than estimates from community leaders and organisations who work closely with communities.

While we welcomed the Gypsy/Traveller Action Plan 2019-21,<sup>73</sup> this lacked an impact evaluation with meaningful participation from Gypsy/Travellers' Communities. Due to COVID-19, the Action Plan was subsequently expanded and extended to 2023 but has not been replaced or further extended.<sup>74</sup>

Gypsy/Traveller communities experience significant barriers to culturally appropriate housing,<sup>75</sup> including due to stigma and discrimination.<sup>76</sup> Gypsy/Traveller children and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>j</sup> State Report paragraph 54

young people have the lowest attendance and highest exclusion record of any ethnic group. Transition to senior school is also low.<sup>77</sup>

The legacy of forced sedentarisation of Gypsy/Travellers into often inappropriate and sub-standard housing – known as the 'Tinker Experiment' has not been adequately addressed by the Scottish Government. Members of the communities campaign for a public apology. While the Scottish Government has begun research to better understand this process, victims have expressed concerns including directly to the Commission, about how their experiences are being reflected or understood.

#### 2.8. Migrants and refugees

The Commission is deeply concerned about the impact of law and policy changes across migration, and notes the recent Concluding Observations of the Human Rights Committee regarding the Illegal Migration Act and the Safety of Rwanda Bill. In practice, there is now nearly no means to seek refugee status in the UK. Legal migration is continually subject to increasing income requirements that undermine safety and rights.

Migrant workers<sup>79</sup> continue to face a hostile environment and particular difficulties in accessing work and fair conditions of work.<sup>80</sup> People seeking asylum in the UK are not allowed to work or claim social security benefits<sup>81</sup> and are provided with just £8.86 per day subsistence.<sup>82</sup>

Asylum accommodation is offered on a no-choice basis and failures to meet basic housing standards have been identified by inspection bodies.<sup>83</sup> Hotel accommodation is used, despite being considered inappropriate for families or children. There are reports of unaccompanied children going missing from UK hotels.<sup>84</sup>

There is no statutory time limit on detention following a 'failed' asylum claim. Individuals may be housed in immigration detention centres, of which one- Dungavel Immigration Removal Centre- is operated in Scotland. Inspection reports have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>k</sup> From conversations with community members the Commission recognises this term has been used as a derogatory term to the community. However, community members request that in relation to the 'Tinker Experiment' this term be used to highlight the injustices they have faced.

highlighted concerns about men with a history of violence towards women being detained alongside women<sup>1</sup> and many detainees had having been held for lengthy periods without prospect of timely removal.<sup>85</sup>

The current Scottish Government generally articulates a generally pro-immigration stance,<sup>m</sup> although this is not universally reflective of migrants and minority communities' experience, who describe racist and discriminatory treatment at similar levels to those in the rest of the UK.<sup>86</sup>

The Commission has repeatedly raised concerns about the impact of the No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF), a UK visa condition, which excludes access to most services provided and/or funded by the government,<sup>87</sup> Given the vast number of prohibited funds and perceived complexity, applicants may be dissuaded from applying or require significant assistance to apply for support they are entitled to. The impacts 'acute' risk of suffering destitution, including for women and children who experience domestic abuse.<sup>88</sup>

The Scottish Government and local authorities have developed an "Ending Destitution Together Strategy" to provide some support for people in Scotland with NRPF conditions.<sup>89</sup> The pandemic demonstrated clearly that there is more room for collaboration between the Scottish Government, third sector and local authority partners to minimise risk of homelessness and destitution even where immigration status presents a challenge.

# 2.9. Employability, Education and Cultural rights

The Scottish Parliament's then Equalities and Human Rights Committee published an inquiry report examining Race Equality, Employment and Skills: Making Progress in 2020, which was critical of the lack of progress on race equality outcomes in the workplace. <sup>90</sup> The Scottish Government has accepted and pledged to implement the findings. <sup>91</sup> The Race Equality Framework for Scotland notes that unemployment and underemployment are relatively high for minority ethnic groups, including for minority ethnic graduates. <sup>92</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Low staff morale and understaffing, the deteriorating physical environment and lack of work opportunities were also cited as concerns in the inspection report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>m</sup> See, for example the Migration Service: <u>Scotland's Migration Service | Scotland.org</u>

Employability and training are devolved, and Employability Scotland has launched a Minority Ethnic Recruitment Toolkit for employers. Programmes to support people into work do not appear to be reaching people from ethnic minorities – research by the EHRC found that less than 2% of all apprenticeships in Scotland are taken by people from ethnic minorities. Fair Start Scotland, the Scottish Government's flagship employability programme, had around 6% of starts from minority ethnic backgrounds, however around 20% of starts had no ethnicity data recorded and data is not disaggregated by community or ethnic group.

A Fairer Scotland for All: An Anti-Racist Employment Strategy, was published in 2022. The Strategy focuses on tacking institutional racism by working with employers to build anti-racist practices internally.

The Scottish Government has also established an Anti-Racism in Education programme, focused on four key areas of curriculum reform- racism and racist incidents in schools, diversity in the teaching profession and educational leadership and professional learning. The Commission has heard from stakeholders that there remains a lack of support for pupils with low English language skills in school, while children from some ethnic minority groups experience higher levels of exclusion and disproportionate barriers to attainment. Migrants with communication and language barriers can also struggle to access information about entitlement and supports available for further and higher education, with residency requirements excluding some migrant young people. Se

The ways in which racist behaviour is recognised, addressed and recorded in schools can lead to low confidence in reporting incidents.<sup>99</sup> There have been growing calls for, and commitments made to, decolonising the curriculum in both schools and universities<sup>100</sup>, with new resources being developed.<sup>101</sup> An Empire, Slavery and Scotland's Museums project has proposed recommendations for how Scotland's involvement in empire, colonialism, and historic slavery can be addressed using museum collections and museum spaces.<sup>102</sup> These were fully accepted in January 2024, although with a significantly smaller budget allocated than suggested by the project group.<sup>103</sup>

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>n</sup> Fair Start Scotland closed to new referrals in March 2024. <u>Fair Start Scotland | Employability in Scotland</u>; will be replaced over time by <u>No One Left Behind | Employability in Scotland</u>. As a result data for 2023 combines the two programmes:

People from minority ethnic communities are under-represented in the arts and cultural outputs, however, there is a chronic lack of data to support a rigorous analysis of exclusion in cultural output and commissioning. Oppsy / Travellers in Scotland are significantly under-represented in cultural institutional output and where they are included continue to be subject to largely negative social representations.

# 2.10. Further marginalised groups – women, children, disabled people and LGBTI+ people from ethnic minority communities

Given the noted shortcomings with the data analysis and publication by race and ethnicity, further disaggregation to understand the experiences of groups who experience multiple and intersecting forms of marginalisation is too rarely available.

However, from the best available data and published research in Scotland, the Commission notes that:

- Outcomes for women from ethnic minority communities appear to generally be worse than those for white women.<sup>106</sup>
- Our work on the Istanbul Convention found a dearth of research exploring women from minority ethnic communities experiences of gender-based violence in Scotland.<sup>107</sup> Women of colour<sup>o</sup> have questioned whether violence against women services will be sufficiently culturally competent to provide them with support.<sup>108</sup>
- While disability is statistically lower among minority ethnic populations than recorded among the 'White: British' population, this masks a wide spectrum, with Gypsy/Travellers twice as likely to report a long-lasting health condition or disability.<sup>109</sup>
- That there appears to be no recent evidence relating to the experiences of LGBTI+ people from ethnic minority communities in Scotland.
- Experiences of loneliness and isolation for older people from minority ethnic communities seems to be more acute and requiring targeted solutions that are not routinely in place.<sup>110</sup>

o The term 'women of colour' that emerged out of feminist advocacy in the US in the 1970s and is commonly used to describe shared experiences of racialised women in the UK, including many Scottish women's sector organisations.

The lack of Scottish specific data in no way suggests that UK-wide trends are not replicated across Scotland. Evidence that certain groups within minority ethnic communities experience intersectional and multiplied discrimination include:

- Black women and women from other minority groups face higher rates of mortality and morbidity associated with pregnancy and maternity.<sup>111</sup>
- A higher proportion of children from minority ethnic communities being identified as having learning disabilities or diagnosed as having more profound and multiple learning disabilities.<sup>112</sup>
- LGBTI+ people from minority ethnic communities describe experiencing racism and stereotyping within LGBTI+ spaces.<sup>113</sup>

#### 3. List of Themes

The Commission encourages the Committee to establish a List of Themes that drives appropriate scrutiny in Scotland, as part of the UK examination. We recommend that this includes questions pertaining to:

- 1. How the success of policies to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for people from minority ethnic communities across Scotland is being measured.
- 2. How the Scottish Government intends to build trust with and realise the human rights of Gypsy/Traveller communities.
- 3. Whether the Scottish Government has considered all measures to maximise support for people with NRPF and ensure the safety and dignity of asylum seekers, refugees and migrant workers.
- 4. What measures are being undertaken to improve the quality of data and its use in measuring human rights outcomes by race and ethnicity, and for further marginalised communities including women, LGBTI+ and disabled from minority ethnic communities.
- 5. How Scottish Government legal and policy frameworks such as the Human Rights Bill and the Anti-Racism Interim Governance Group will drive meaningful improvements to race equality and human rights.
- 6. What Scottish Government is doing to ensure that its anti-poverty and housing affordability measures are appropriately targeted, culturally competent and accessible to people from minority ethnic communities.
- 7. How the Scottish Government plans to tackle the level of racist hate crime and racist bullying in schools and other settings.
- 8. How the Scottish Government and other public bodies intends to address structural racism and improve relationships with communities who have experienced historic or ongoing harmful treatment in the public sector.
- 9. What measures the Scottish Government will take to increase the diversity of institutions, including cultural institutions, in Scotland.

- 10. How the Scottish Government is responding to the disproportionately high levels of mortality and negative health outcomes witnessed throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.
- 11. How measures to improve women's health outcomes in Scotland are considering racial inequalities for racialised women and girls, up to and including increased maternal mortality.
- 12. How the Scottish Government is addressing sectarianism, including specific measures to monitor feelings of safety and inclusion and respond to criminal and non-criminal incidents.

#### 4. End Notes

<sup>1</sup> Scotland's Census (2022) Rounded population estimates

- <sup>2</sup> Scottish Government,(2023) Anti-racism in Scotland: progress review 2023
- <sup>3</sup> CERD/C/GBR/CO/21-23 <u>UN Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD), Concluding observations on the combined twenty-first to twenty-third periodic reports of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, 3 October 2016,</u>
- <sup>4</sup> <u>UN Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination General recommendation XXI on the right to self-determination</u>
- <sup>5</sup> UN Human Rights Committee (2024) Concluding observations on the eighth periodic report of United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland CCPR/C/GBR/CO/8
- <sup>6</sup> OHCHR (2024) <u>UK-Rwanda asylum law: UN leaders warn of harmful consequences</u>
- <sup>7</sup> Scottish Government (2024) Human Rights Bill for Scotland: consultation analysis
- <sup>8</sup> The Scottish Government (2017) A fairer Scotland for all: race equality action plan and highlight report 2017-2021
- <sup>9</sup> The Scottish Government (2021) Race equality: immediate priorities plan
- <sup>10</sup> Scottish Government (2020) Expert Reference Group on COVID-19 and Ethnicity: recommendations to Scottish Government
- <sup>11</sup> The Scottish Government (2021) Developing National Anti-Racism Infrastructure: Interim Governance Group gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>12</sup> CERD/C/GBR/CO/21-23 Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination: Concluding observations on the combined twenty-first to twenty-third periodic reports of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Paragraph 14.
- <sup>13</sup> <u>Human Rights Consortium Scotland and the Scottish Human Rights Commission (2022) All Our Rights in Law: Views of the Wider Public</u>
- <sup>14</sup> Response 548687432 to Equality Evidence Strategy 2023-25 consultation Scottish Government consultations Citizen Space; Response 283825845 to Equality Evidence Strategy 2023-25 consultation Scottish Government consultations Citizen Space and Response 927376936 to Equality Evidence Strategy 2023-25 consultation Scottish Government consultations Citizen Space <sup>15</sup> Developing National Anti-Racism Infrastructure: Interim Governance Group gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- 16 shrc-consultation-submission-equality-evidence-strategy.pdf (scottishhumanrights.com)
- <sup>17</sup> Hate Crime in Scotland 2022-23 | COPFS
- <sup>18</sup> Hate Crime and Public Order (Scotland) Act 2021 (legislation.gov.uk)
- 19 New Hate Crime laws come into force gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>20</sup> Hate crime strategy gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>21</sup> Hate crime strategy: delivery plan gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- Hate Crime Act might yet be a success if we focus on what it means | The Herald (heraldscotland.com)
- <sup>23</sup> 983D9A24-4271-4F75-B52B-25B164DDC243.pdf (ncl.ac.uk)
- <sup>24</sup> Antisemitic Incidents Report 2023 Blog CST Protecting Our Jewish Community
- <sup>25</sup> First Minister meets Jewish students to hear about campus antisemitism (scojec.org); Antisemitic Incidents Report 2023 Blog CST Protecting Our Jewish Community
- <sup>26</sup> Statement on Israel and Gaza (scottishhumanrights.com)
- <sup>27</sup> Scottish Government (2018) Legal definition of sectarianism working group: final report -
- <sup>28</sup> An updated study into the characteristics of police recorded hate crime in Scotland (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>29</sup> Scottish Government 2015 Community Experiences of Sectarianism gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>30</sup> Police chief: Scottish football 'in crisis' and repeal of Offensive Behaviour Act is to blame (scotsman.com)

- <sup>31</sup> Effectiveness of the PSED specific duties in Scotland (equalityhumanrights.com)
- 32 Scottish Government (2023) Ethnicity in the Justice System: Evidence Review
- <sup>33</sup> Race ED, Edinburgh University (2021) The journey to a more diverse Scottish Parliament
- <sup>34</sup> Public Order Act 2023 (legislation.gov.uk)
- 35 Scottish Government: Scottish Prison Population Statistics 2022-23
- <sup>36</sup> Race and the justice system research audit: findings report gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>37</sup> Scottish Government (2023) Ethnicity in the Justice System: Evidence Review
- 38 Scottish Government (2023) Ethnicity in the Justice System: Evidence Review
- <sup>39</sup> Scottish Government (2023) Ethnicity in the Justice System: Evidence Review
- <sup>40</sup> Scottish Prison Service Equality Outcomes 2017-2020 (sps.gov.uk)

41

- Police Scotland: Racism, sexism and homophobia uncovered in review BBC News.
- Police Scotland chief says force is institutionally racist BBC News
- 42 Welcome | Sheku Bayoh Inquiry
- 43 Human Trafficking and Exploitation (Scotland) Act 2015 (legislation.gov.uk)
- 44 <u>Trafficking and Exploitation Strategy Fourth Annual Progress Report (www.gov.scot)</u>
- <sup>45</sup> National referral mechanism guidance: adult (Northern Ireland and Scotland) GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- <sup>46</sup> Modern Slavery: NRM and DtN statistics, October to December 2023 GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
  Table 4
- <sup>47</sup>Human Trafficking and Exploitation (Scotland) Act 2015 (legislation.gov.uk)
- 48 Trafficked children locked in Scots jails in breach of rights law, activists say | The National
- <sup>49</sup> Section 2 Trafficking and exploitation strategy: fourth annual progress report 2020 to 2021 gov.scot (www.gov.scot) which states that 9 people had been charged with human trafficking offences under the 2015 Act. A further four were convicted in Sept 2022: Four jailed for human trafficking offences in Glasgow | COPFS.

#### See also:

- Promises to make Scotland 'hostile' for human traffickers 'hollow' as just 12 cases reach court
   | The Scotsman
- Child victims of modern slavery in the UK Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
- <sup>50</sup> Opinion-FINAL-040723-SIGNED-1.pdf (justrightscotland.org.uk)
- <sup>51</sup> Poverty and Income Inequality in Scotland 2020-23 (data.gov.scot)
- <sup>52</sup> Poverty in Scotland 2023 | Joseph Rowntree Foundation (jrf.org.uk)
- 53 Ethnicity, poverty, and the data in Scotland | JRF
- <sup>54</sup> Scottish benefits roll-out successful but challenges remain | Audit Scotland (audit-scotland.gov.uk)
- <sup>55</sup> Client+diversity+to+March+2023+-+Publication.pdf (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>56</sup> Poverty in Scotland 2021 | JRF
- <sup>57</sup> Child Poverty (Scotland) Act 2017 (legislation.gov.uk)
- <sup>58</sup> Supporting documents Best Start, Bright Futures: tackling child poverty delivery plan 2022 to 2026 gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- 59 Additional child poverty analysis 2023 gov.scot (www.gov.scot)

60

- <u>ethnicity\_poverty\_and\_the\_data\_in\_scotland (1).pdf</u>
- CRER Ethnicity and Poverty in Scotland 2020 (squarespace.com)
- <sup>61</sup> Inside Housing News Outsourcers win £2.9bn of asylum seeker accommodation contracts; Housing needs of minority ethnic groups: Evidence review (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>62</sup> Monitoring racialised health inequalities in Scotland 30 May 2023 Monitoring racialised health inequalities in Scotland Publications Public Health Scotland
- <sup>63</sup> Equality and Human Rights Commission (2009) Gypsies and Travellers: simple solutions for living together
- <sup>64</sup> Scotland's Population 2021 (nrscotland.gov.uk)
- <sup>65</sup> Public Health Scotland (2023) Monitoring racialised health inequalities in Scotland
- 66 Scottish HuBaid Gissid & Homissio 92 McDonaide Road the dikis 42 hya et al. 297 5750

hello@scottishhumanrights.com www.scottishhumanrights.com Implementation of the European Social Charter

- 67 Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland (2021) Racial Inequality and Mental Health in Scotland
- 68 Scottish Government (2023) Scotland's Mental Health and Wellbeing: Strategy
- <sup>69</sup> Scottish Government (2017) Mental Health Strategy 2017-2027
- <sup>70</sup> Audit Scotland (2018) Children and young people's mental health
- <sup>71</sup> Scotland's Mental Health and Wellbeing: Strategy
- <sup>72</sup> Dr Geetha Marcus, UK Parliament: GRT0058 Evidence on Tackling inequalities faced by the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities
- 73 The Scottish Government (2019) Improving the lives of Gypsy/Travellers: 2019-2021
- <sup>74</sup> The Scottish Government (2019) Improving the lives of Gypsy/Travellers: 2019-2021
- <sup>75</sup> Gypsy/Travellers accommodation needs: evidence review gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>76</sup> The Scottish Government (2018) Improving Gypsy/Traveller sites: progress summary
- 77 See
  - The Scottish Government (2020) Scotland and the sustainable development goals: a national review to drive action
  - The Scottish Government (2015) Gypsy/Travellers in Scotland A Comprehensive Analysis
    of the 2011 Census
- <sup>78</sup> UN Human Rights Committee Concluding observations on the eighth periodic report of United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland CCPR/C/GBR/CO/8
- <sup>79</sup> Many migrant women are on zero-hours contracts with no guaranteed wage or access to sick pay: Women's Budget Group (2021) Covid-19 and economic challenges for disabled women
- 80 Resolution Foundation (2021) Low Pay Britain 2021
- <sup>81</sup> Women's Budget Group (2021) Covid-19 and economic challenges for disabled women
- 82 Asylum support: What you'll get GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
- <sup>83</sup> Independent Chief Inspector of Borders and Migration (2018) An inspection of the Home Office's management of asylum accommodation provision
- <sup>84</sup> Over 100 charities call for action on children going missing from Home Office hotels, at risk of trafficking and exploitation | ECPAT UK
- <sup>85</sup> HMIP (2021) Report on an unannounced inspection of Dungavel Immigration Removal Centre by HM Chief Inspector of Prisons 19-21 July and 2-5 August 2021
- <sup>86</sup> Marcus Nicholson, the Conversation (2021) Immigration: how Scotland sees itself and how migrants actually experience it
- <sup>87</sup> Public Funds Migrant access to public funds, including social housing and homelessness assistance, and social care Version 19.0
- 88 Scottish Parliament Equality and Human Rights Committee (2017) Hidden Lives New Beginnings: Destitution, asylum and insecure immigration status in Scotland
- 89 COSLA and Scottish Government (2021) Ending Destitution Together: A Strategy to Improve Support for People with No Recourse to Public Funds Living in Scotland 2021-2024
- 90 Race Equality, Employment and Skills: Making Progress?
- <sup>91</sup> Tackling race inequality in employment: statement gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- 92 Race equality framework for Scotland 2016 to 2030 gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
- 93 Scottish Government (2022) Minority ethnic recruitment toolkit
- <sup>94</sup> Equality and Human Rights Commission (2022) Modern Apprenticeships Equality & The Economy : Spreading The Benefits
- <sup>95</sup> Scottish Government (2023) Scotland's Devolved Employment Services: statistical summary February 2023
- <sup>96</sup> Anti-Racism in Education Programme
- <sup>97</sup> Human Rights Consortium Scotland (2022) Summary of points raised in Scotland's Human Rights Report Card: Universal Periodic Review civil society workshops in November -December 2021
- 98 <u>Human Rights Consortium Scotland (2022) Summary of points raised in Scotland's Human Rights Report Card: Universal Periodic Review civil society workshops in November -December 2021</u>
- <sup>99</sup> Race Equality and Anti-Racism in Education Programme Scottish Government, Stakeholder Network Group minutes June 2021: racist incidents and racist bullying workstream
- For example Fidgeside House, 99 McDonald Road, Edinburgh, EH7 4NS 0131 297 5750

hello@scottishhumanrights.com www.scottishhumanrights.com

- <u>University of Glasgow MyGlasgow MyGlasgow News Decolonising the Curriculum reading list now live</u>
- <u>Decolonising the Curriculum in HE: Event Recordings | The University of Edinburgh; Anti-Racism in Education Programme gov.scot (www.gov.scot);</u>
- <u>Libby Brooks, the Guardian (2021) Teachers in Scotland given guidance on decolonising the curriculum</u>
- <sup>101</sup> Addressing inclusion Effectively challenging racism in schools | Learning resources | National Improvement Hub
- <sup>102</sup> Museums Galleries Scotland | Empire, Slavery and Scotland's Museums
- <sup>103</sup> Scottish Government (2024) Empire, Slavery and Scotland's Museums
- <sup>104</sup> One survey from 2016 with a sample of 1,558 suggests that BME, disabled and LGBTI+ people are slightly more represented in the arts than the population as a whole, however this was not analysed by seniority or financial investment. See: <u>Creative Scotland (2017) Diversity in the Arts 2016</u>
- <sup>105</sup> EHRC (2013) Gypsy Travellers In Scotland
- <sup>106</sup> National Advisory Council on Women and Girls: Race Equality
- 107 Scottish Human Rights Commission (2023) Istanbul Convention Report (scottishhumanrights.com)
- <sup>108</sup> Rape Crisis Scotland (2023) Delivering sexual violence support services that work for survivors of colour
- <sup>109</sup> An Analysis of Health Inequality and Ethnicity in Scotland (www.gov.scot)
- <sup>110</sup> Hanover (Scotland) and Bield Housing Association (2020)
- Count\_Us\_In\_Research\_Report\_Final.pdf (equalityscotland.com)
- 111 MBRRACE-UK: Mothers and Babies: Reducing Risk through Audits and Confidential Enquiries across the UK
- 112 Ethnicity and Equality | Foundation for People with Learning Disabilities
- <sup>113</sup> University College London (UCL), 2022, <u>Lived experiences and their consequences for health in sexual and ethnic minority young adults in the UK A qualitative study</u>